Suite 210

Jackson, MS 39201

Telephone: 601.576.4200 Facsimile: 601.576.4205

and

Phillip W. Broadhead, Esq., MSB

Criminal Appeals Clinic
The University of Mississippi School of Law
520 Lamar Law Center
Post Office Box 1848
University, MS 38677-1848
Telephone: 662.915.5560

Facsimile: 662.915.6842

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-KA-02145-COA

MARIO BROWN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO ELICIT UNRELIABLE, FACTUALLY INACCURATE, AND SPECULATIVE TESTIMONY FROM DR. STEVEN HAYNE WHERE HE GAVE OPINION TESTIMONY OUTSIDE FORENSIC PATHOLOGY AND ENGAGED IN RANK SPECULATION THAT MISLED THE JURY.

ISSUE TWO:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING THE DEFENSE'S PROPOSED SELF-DEFENSE JURY INSTRUCTIONS WHERE THEY WERE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE, WERE A CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE LAW, AND WERE NOT DUPLICATIVE OF ANY OTHER INSTRUCTION, EFFECTIVELY DEPRIVING THE DEFENSE TO PRESENT TO THE JURY THEIR THEORY OF THE CASE.

ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO SUSTAIN THE APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR A NEW TRIAL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT, PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTION OF ACQUITTAL, AND J.N.O.V., AS THE JURY'S VERDICT WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT NOR WAS THE EVIDENCE LEGAL SUFFICIENT TO MAKE OUT A PRIMA FACIE CASE.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Mario Brown is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2008).

STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF ORAL ARGUMENT

This case is very fact-intensive and the Appellant, through counsel, would respectfully request this Court to grant oral argument to present conflicts in the rulings of the trial court, based on the evidence and testimony presented at trial that are alleged by the Appellant to be erroneous.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As in all small towns, conflicts between persons in the community can lead to problems, which in turn can lead to violence. Often, this violence has no rhyme or reason, and a reliable basis in assigning blame can be difficult, if not impossible, to establish. As a result of this confusion, sometimes the wrong man is accused, tried, and convicted without proof beyond a reasonable doubt, and only speculation, conjecture, and guesswork from the circumstantial evidence in the case rules the day.

The problems in this case began in the late evening of September 8, 2006. Mario

Brown (hereinafter "Mr. Brown") was at a local hangout, Nanny's Food and Games Café (hereinafter "Nanny's"), with Mary Hopson (hereinafter "Hopson"), the mother of his children, and other friends, including Clarence Henderson (hereinafter "Henderson") and Tauri Martin (hereinafter "Martin"). (T. II. 290) The initial altercation began after words were exchanged between Martin and Corey Dorrough (hereinafter "Dorrough") who was standing out in front of Nanny's with the deceased, Seanl Cole (hereinafter "Cole"), and several other individuals. Henderson initiated a heated verbal altercation with Dorrough, in response to the altercation between Dorrough and Martin. At this point Mr. Brown punched Dorrough. During the confusion that ensued, Cole "blind-sided" Mr. Brown, taking him to the ground. (T. II. 281, 300-01) When Mr. Brown got up he noticed that Cole, Dorrough and Jamarcus Brady (hereinafter "Brady") were approaching him with empty beer bottles. Mr. Brown was fearful and drew a black Taurus .9 millimeter revolver from his pants to stop the men from advancing any closer. (T. II. 155) At this point Dorrough ceased his aggressive advances with the beer bottle. At this point Mr. Brown was still being pressured by Cole and Brady and continued to point the weapon at them to stop their advances. (T. III. 301) Brady stopped his advances but Cole continued to advance towards Mr. Brown with the beer bottle in hand. A fight, described as a "scuffle" or "tussle" at various times in the testimony. ensued between Mr. Brown and Cole. Mr. Brown tried to strike Cole with the gun several times. (T. III. 302) During the tussle the gun discharged three times. (T. III. 302) There is no conclusive evidence, either testimonial or physical, that any of these shots struck Cole.

After the fight, Mr. Brown and Cole ran to opposite sides of Nanny's. (T. II. 302) At this point, two males followed Cole to one side of the building. Mr. Brown stopped at the edge of the building and heard shots being fired. (T. III. 303) Mr. Brown, fearful for his life and believing that Cole or one of the other men were shooting at him, fired an additional three shots in no particular direction or target. (T. III. 310) Mr. Brown then left with Henderson and was driven by him to his brother's house. (T. III. 304) About an hour after arriving at his mother's house, Hopson called and informed Mr. Brown that Cole was dead. After hearing that Cole was dead, Brown went to a local sewage lagoon and threw the .9 millimeter into the lagoon, fearing that he would be the one who would receive the blame for Cole's death. (T. III. 304) At about 4:30 the next morning, Mr. Brown left his brother's house and went to his mother's house.

The next morning Mr. Brown went and turned himself in at the police station. He waived his Miranda rights and voluntarily gave the police a statement regarding the events of the previous evening. (T. II. 176) He explained to them about the fight and that the weapon had discharged on accident during the "tussle." (T. III. 307) He also explained that Cole and the other males had come after him with bottles, and that he had feared that they were going to cause him harm if he did not take some kind of action to prevent their advances. (T. III. 307)

The Appellant was subsequently indicted (CP. 2, RE. 5), at trial the State called seven witnesses, including police officers, forensic scientists and a medical. The State did not call

any eyewitnesses to the murder of Cole or any persons in Friars Point that knew Mr. Brown or the deceased. The prosecution introduced various photographs into evidence including seven pictures of the deceased (Exh. S-2A through S-2T); one picture of the deceased depicted a beer bottle next to his body, the crime scene, shell casings, a purported blood stain and a brown paper bag with supposed blood on it (no testing was had to determine if blood was present). (T. II. 186-193) The witnesses testified that there were seven .9 millimeter shell casings found at the crime scene; a group of three found on the east side of the building and the other four found in front of the building. (T. II. 192-93, 205) Starks Hathcock, a forensic scientist, testified that all of the shell casings found at the scene were fired from the same weapon, however, he could not match the bullet recovered from the body to the shell casings. (T. II. 225-26, 230, 232-33) The officers testified about a "red mark" found in front of the building which was repeatedly referred to as a "blood stain." (T. II. 181, 192, 201) The officers tested for the presence of blood at the scene with "hemo sticks," however, there was no conclusive report from the crime laboratory verifying the initial findings. (T. II. 201-02) The officers took a gun shot residue test from the deceased hands and the findings were negative. (T. II. 212-13) Gun shot residue tests were not performed on Mr. Brown, nor were they performed on the deceased's clothing to determine the proximity of the gun to the deceased when it was fired

Dr. Steven Hayne (hereinafter, "Dr. Hayne") performed the autopsy and testified that the deceased died of three gun shot wounds; the shot to the chest and the abdomen were both lethal. (T. II. 240-43) Dr. Hayne also expressed an opinion as to the victim's posture when he was shot, stating that in order that to achieve the angles of entrance, the deceased was "ducking" when he was shot in the chest and leaning slightly away when he was shot in the abdomen. However, he did not give any basis or reasoning for those conclusions. (T. II. 247-48) Dr. Hayne could not reach a conclusion as to the distance the gun was fired from the deceased; he could only rule out a point blank shot. (T. II. 248-250) Dr. Hayne also testified that a person could run 100 to 200 yards after being shot through heart. (T. II. 251-252)

Walter Davis, the investigator who interviewed Mr. Brown, testified that he informed Mr. Brown of his Miranda rights, Mr. Brown then signed the Miranda form and proceeded to give his statement voluntarily. (T. II. 258-260) The statement written down by police differed only from Mr. Brown's testimony in respect to the second set of gunshots heard that night and the deceased and his friends threatening him with beer bottles. (T. II. 263-64) The statement was written by Investigator Davis and signed by Mr. Brown; no videotape or audio recording was made of the interrogation. (T. II. 267-68)

After the State rested its case-in-chief and the directed verdict motion was overruled, the defense called Henderson, who was an eyewitness to the altercation with the deceased and his friends the night of the incident. He testified that Mr. Brown and the deceased were fighting and he heard two to three shots. (T. II. 281) The deceased got up and ran away and did not appear to be shot. (T. II. 282) He also testified that he was looking right at Mr. Brown when the second set of four shots were fired and Mr. Brown was not the shooter. (T.

II. 282-83) After the shooting, Henderson was arrested on a gun charge where he subsequently gave a statement in which he said he saw Mr. Brown shoot the deceased. (T. II. 283-84) Henderson testified that he told the police there was a second group of shots fired, but that was also not included in the written statement. (T. II. 282) Henderson explained that he lied in his original statement because he wanted to get himself out of trouble. (T. II. 292-93)

Mr. Brown also testified as to his version of the events that night. He testified the statement written by the police officers did not accurately reflect that which he told them. He testified that the details concerning the deceased and his friends being armed with beer bottles and the second group of shots being fired behind the building were omitted from the written statement. (T. III. 305-06) He stated that the statement was not correct and denied ever reading it prior to receiving it from defense counsel in preparation for trial. (T. III. 317)

The trial judge refused three proposed jury instructions regarding self-defense, and defense counsel withdrew an accident instruction. (T. III. 331-34) (CP. 36-38, RE. 17-19) The jury subsequently found Mr. Brown guilty of the lesser-included offense of manslaughter and the trial judge sentenced him to twenty years imprisonment. (T. III. 375, 389) The defense filed post-trial motions for J.N.O.V. and for a new trial (CP. 6-7, RE. 9-11), which were denied by the trial judge. (CP.15, RE. 9-11). Feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, the Appellant perfected his appeal to this honorable Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It was like reading a John Grisham novel. It was a Friday night, and Mario Brown was just hanging out with friends when an argument ensued, shots were fired, and someone was dead. At trial, a man was convicted of manslaughter with no conclusive, substantial evidence of guilt, just confusion over who "did it." The jury disregarded the evidence presented in the case, and merely took the law into their own hands, to make someone, it did not matter who, pay for the death of Seanl Cole. The State put on evidence, none of which determinately pointed at Mr. Brown as the killer. The State presented a someone to the jury who was scared for his life, who brandished a gun to defend himself, then convinced the jury that Mr. Brown actually pulled the trigger that fired the bullets that killed the deceased. No forensic, scientific, nor methodological evidence backed up these claims, and the jury merely engaged in speculation. Mr. Brown was denied a fair and proper trial, based on the jury's lack of concern for proper evidence and procedure and full concern about making someone, even an innocent man, pay for the crime that was committed.

Mr. Brown first contends the trial court erred in allowing the prosecution to elicit testimony from Dr. Steven Hayne which was inaccurate, misleading, and far beyond the scope of his expertise as a forensic pathologist. Dr. Hayne erroneously testified as to the victim's posture when the shots were fired, speculated as to which of the three gunshot wounds were inflicted first, and then stated without corroboration that a person could run

100-200 yards after being fatally shot through the heart. Dr. Hayne gave no scientific basis for these claims and did not justify his conclusions in any way. Dr. Hayne's testimony was wholly improper as it was misleading, inaccurate, and, as a result, Mr. Brown was deprived of his constitutional right to a fundamentally fair trial.

Mr. Brown further contends that the trial court erred in refusing defense proposed jury instructions D-5, D-8, and D-9. The instructions were correct statements of the law to establish an affirmative defense in that they detailed the elements a defendant must prove for necessary self-defense. The defense established a factual basis for a viable self-defense claim in their case through Mr. Brown's testimony and the testimony of a key eyewitness, Henderson. The proposed instructions were not duplicative of any other instruction given or proposed by the Court or the State. It was an abuse of discretion for the trial judge to refuse the proposed jury instructions. As a result, the jury was not allowed to consider Mr. Brown's claim of self-defense, which left little choice but to convict the Appellant.

Lastly, Mr. Brown's contends that the overwhelming weight of the evidence does not support the jury's guilty verdict for the crime of manslaughter, nor did the prosecution present a legally sufficient case. The State presented no evidence to signify that Mr. Brown was in fact the one who killed the deceased. There was no eyewitness testimony indicating that Mr. Brown fired the shots that killed the deceased, there was no forensic evidence tying Mr. Brown to the death of the deceased, and no additional credible evidence that provided proof beyond a reasonable doubt to show that Mr. Brown was responsible for the death of

the deceased. The only facts that tend to supports the guilty verdict are that Mr. Brown was in an altercation with the deceased, Mr. Brown's gun discharged, chaos ensued, more gunshots were heard, and the deceased was subsequently found dead, far from the scene of the "scuffle." There is no solid evidence that conclusively establishes that Mr. Brown is the person responsible for the death of the deceased, merely weak circumstantial evidence that did not rise to the level of beyond a reasonable doubt, and the jury's desire for someone to pay for the death that occurred obviously produced the erroneous verdict.

Mr. Brown was found guilty based on evidence that could not be described as overwhelming, following a trial infected with multiple errors. The jury reached a verdict on proof that does not rise to the level established by the Constitution's requirement that all defendants receive a fair trial. Therefore, for the above reasons, this honorable Court should reverse and render this case, thereby discharging the Appellant from custody, or, in the alternative, reverse and remand this case for a new trial on the merits, with proper instructions to the lower court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO ELICIT UNRELIABLE, FACTUALLY INACCURATE, AND SPECULATIVE TESTIMONY FROM DR. STEVEN HAYNE WHERE HE GAVE OPINION TESTIMONY OUTSIDE FORENSIC PATHOLOGY AND ENGAGED IN RANK SPECULATION THAT MISLED THE JURY.

The speculation, conjecture, and guesswork that is the hallmark of this case was taken

to a new level through the testimony of Dr. Steven Hayne, the prosecution's expert witness in the field of forensic pathology whose suppositions about exactly what happened that fateful night in this case served only to discombobulate the jury. This further confusion caused by this so-called "expert" testimony caused the jury to come to the conclusion that skillful doctors cannot be wrong, producing a guilty verdict where the proof was not convincing beyond a reasonable doubt.

According to M.R.E. 702, expert testimony must be relevant and reliable. Expert testimony is only relevant "if scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." Reliability is judged by whether the witness is qualified by virtue of his/her knowledge, skill, experience or education where "the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data . . ., is the product of reliable principles and methods, and . . . the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case." Miss. Transp. Com'n v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 35 (\$7) (Miss. 2003) (emphasis added); M.R.E. 702.

The prosecution introduced Dr. Hayne's "expert" testimony after a voir dire that included only very basic information concerning his qualifications. He stated that he was "certified" without any further explanation as to his "certification," and that he had received some training in the field of forensic pathology. (T. II. 237). Dr. Hayne also testified under oath that he was the "chief state pathologist for the Department of Public Safety medical examiner's office, State of Mississippi." (T. II. 236). All of these statements are fallacious

or at the <u>very</u> least misleading. As Justice Diaz pointed out in his well-known concurring opinion, Dr. Hayne is not qualified to serve as the State Medical Examiner because he is not certified by the American Board of Pathology. *Edmonds v. State*, 955 So.2d 787, 802 (¶47) (Miss. 2007) (Diaz, J., concurring). Dr. Hayne is purportedly certified by two organizations, the American Board of Pathology and the American College of Forensic Examiners, neither of which are recognized by the American Board of Medical Specialties. *Id.* at ¶49. The prosecution simply showed that Dr. Hayne had gone to medical school, had performed an exorbitant number of autopsies (averaging over 1,000 per year), and had testified thousands of times (not without controversy) in Mississippi courts, including before the trial judge in the case at bar. (T. II. 237-38).

The decision to admit expert testimony is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will be reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard of review. *Williams v. State*, 937 So.2d 35, 42 (¶18) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). An erroneous ruling which results in an abuse of discretion will be deemed reversible error where a substantial right of the accused is affected. *Green v. State*, 614 So.2d 926, 935 (Miss. 1992); see also M.R.E 103(a).

A forensic pathologist's duty as an expert witness in a homicide case is "to answer two basic questions: the cause and the manner of death?" Williams, 937 So.2d at ¶20 (citing Bell v. State, 725 So.2d 836 (¶51) (Miss. 1998)). A forensic pathologist may also testify as to what caused the injuries, what trauma would result from those injuries. Id. (citing McGowen v. State, 859 So.2d 320 (¶53) (Miss. 2003)). Further, a forensic pathologist may

testify as to a person's "wounds, suffering, and the means of infliction of injury." Id. (citing Holland v. State, 705 So.2d 307 (¶127) (Miss. 1997)).

Dr. Hayne did testify as to the cause of death, two gunshot wounds, and the manner of death, homicide. (T. II. 250). However, Dr. Hayne went <u>far beyond</u> the cause and manner of death and testified to opinions, unsupported by any facts in evidence or stated scientific principles that would confirm his postulations in support of the State's theory of prosecution. For example, Dr. Hayne testified to the following at trial:

- Q: So if the gunman is standing in front of the victim, how could that bullet have entered the body, assuming that the gunman is standing and the, assuming that the gunman is standing.
- A: And they're both standing, sir?
- Q: Yes, sir.
- A: It would be consistent with a person ducking like that, one would get that trajectory, sir. One fires a weapon towards me and I'm ducked in that position, you would line up with this white rod.
- Q: All right.
- A: Which, in turn, would line up when we put them on the autopsy table with the track in the body.
- Q: Yes, sir. And what about the abdominal wound?
- A: The abdominal wound, the bullet was traveling slightly upward at about 20

degrees and from front to back. If you lean slightly away, you have that line of trajectory. It's possible if he's close enough, you wouldn't even need that shooting downward.

(T. II. 247-38, R.E. 13-14)

After this highly speculative opinion testimony as to the question in which position the deceased <u>might</u> have been standing, sitting, or lying at the time exact time he was shot (a fact never conclusively established by direct evidence presented at trial, therefore, this testimony also relied upon facts not in evidence), Dr. Hayne then continued to opine as to what else might have happened that night, which coincidentally was consistent with the prosecution's theory of the case:

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