**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**MARIO BROWN**

**APPELLANT**

**VS.**

**NO. 2007-KA-2145**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**APPELLEE**

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

**APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

**JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY  
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL  
POST OFFICE BOX 220  
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220  
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

**

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Brown interposed no objection to the testimony of Dr. Hayne. Accordingly, he cannot place the trial court in error for failing to limit the pathologist's testimony. His first proposition has no merit.

Furthermore, the trial court did not err in refusing to instruct the jury on self-defense. After the court invited him to do so, defense counsel was unable to articulate an evidentiary basis for the proffered self-defense instructions. The state submits no such basis can be found in the record. Accordingly, Brown's second proposition lacks merit.

Finally, the trial court did not err in overruling the motion for j.n.o.v./new trial. Brown's reliance on *Weathersby v. State*, infra, is procedurally barred and substantively unavailing. His final proposition should be denied.

### PROPOSITION ONE:

#### BROWN'S CHALLENGE TO THE TESTIMONY OF DR. HAYNE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

Brown argues first that the trial court committed reversible error in allowing Dr. Hayne to testify outside his realm of expertise. The fundamental flaw in this argument is Brown's inability to point to any allegedly erroneous ruling by the trial court. No such ruling exists because Brown failed to interpose any objection to the testimony of Dr. Hayne. Defense counsel stated unequivocally that he had no objection to the acceptance of Dr. Hayne as an expert in the field of forensic pathology. Thereafter, Dr. Hayne testified without objection. (T.238-53)

Because the defense failed to object to this testimony, this issue is not preserved for review. *Watts v. State*, 733 So.2d 214, 233 (Miss.1999) (argument that expert exceeded the scope of her expertise was procedurally barred by failure to object at trial). Accord, *Hobgood v. State*,

926 So.2d 847, 851 (Miss.2006) (failure to object to expert opinion testimony barred consideration of the issue on appeal).

A similar issue in an identical posture recently was rejected with the following analysis:

If Bogan considered this [expert] testimony confusing or imprecise, he was obligated to object. Typically, if a defendant fails to timely object to an issue at trial, the issue is waived for purposes of appeal. [emphasis added] The trial court will not be held in error on a matter that was never presented for its consideration. Having failed to object to the expert testimony, Bogan is procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal.

*Bogan v. State*, 754 So.2d 1289, 1293 (Miss.App.2000).

As shown by the foregoing authorities, the contemporaneous rule applies to expert testimony as to any other evidence. If the defense feels aggrieved by it, it is obligated to object. In this case, the defense did not make a single objection to Dr. Hayne's testimony and it may not be heard to do so for the first time here.<sup>3</sup> Solely in the alternative, without conceding the necessity of further discussion, the state addresses Brown's assertion that Dr. Hayne is not qualified to be the State Medical Examiner because he is not certified by the American Board of Pathology. (Brief for Appellant 12) This contention is beside the point. While the State Medical Examiner is required to be certified by the American Board of Pathology, MISS.CODE ANN. Section 41-61-55 (Rev.2005), pathologists appointed or employed by him under the supervision of the Commissioner of Public Safety are to required to be so certified. MISS.CODE ANN. Section 41-61-77(3)(Rev.2005). Dr. Hayne was not required to be certified by the American

---

<sup>3</sup>In his brief, Brown does not acknowledge the fact that he failed to object; rather, he proceeds as if the issue were preserved. It follows that he has failed to allege, much less establish, plain error.

Board of Pathology in order to perform autopsies for the State of Mississippi. He was not and never claimed to be the State Medical Examiner.

The state maintains that Brown's first proposition is procedurally barred and should be rejected on that basis alone.

**PROPOSITION TWO:**

**THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING  
TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON SELF-DEFENSE**

Brown submitted three jury instructions, D-5, D-8 and D-9, on the issue of self-defense. (C.P.36-38) When Instruction D-5 was tendered, the state objected on the ground of absence of evidentiary basis. (T.331) The court then conducted this colloquy:

BY THE COURT: Okay. What evidentiary basis do we have in the record to show that the defendant acknowledged having killed the victim, but having done so in self-defense?

BY MR. TISDELL: Your Honor, we have, we offered this instruction, tendered this instruction because we got the situation where the defendant does admit to having a gun, he does admit that the gun went off while he and the deceased were struggling with each other. He's not necessarily denying, he cannot say definitively that at that point he was shot or whether he was shot around the corner. But he can say, the whole reason of having the gun that he was in fear of his life because there were several individuals out there. He'd already been struck by one of them to the point where he was knocked, knocked to the ground.

He got up. He tried to scare them away, he used the word "intimidate." And at least one of the persons, the deceased, continued to come toward him with a bottle in his hand which would be used as a weapon. Under those facts--

**BY THE COURT: Again, is the defendant saying that he did it, that he killed the victim but he killed the victim in self defense is my question? And if he said that in the record, I am asking that you point it out to me. In other words, the Court must find an evidentiary basis for giving an instruction.**

**BY MR. TISDELL: If I recall, when asked that question on cross and he, his response was he really didn't know.**

THE COURT: So then, how can he assert the defense of self defense? Okay, the Court denies D-5.

(emphasis added) (T.332-333)

On the same ground, the court denied Instructions D-8 and D-9. The court did, however, give defense counsel one more opportunity to support his position: "So the Court will be consistent. ... But if the defendant wishes to be heard, you may." Defense counsel stated, "No." (T.333-34)

The state submits it is not surprising that defense counsel was unable to articulate an evidentiary basis for a self-defense instruction because the record does not contain one. While a defendant is entitled to have jury instructions which present his theory of the case, such instructions should not be granted when they have no foundation in the evidence. *Garrett v. State*, 956 So.2d 229, 234 (Miss.2006). Even when that instruction incorporates the sole theory of the defense, there is no constitutional right to have the jury instructed on such theory when it lacks evidentiary support. *Manning v. State*, 835 So.2d 94, 100-01 (Miss.App.2002).

Brown never testified that he shot Cole in self-defense. Although he did say that he was afraid, he maintained that the gun discharged accidentally. This case is factually similar to *Robinson v. State*, 726 So.2d 189, 194 (Miss.App.1998), wherein the defendant claimed he had drawn a weapon to "bluff" his alleged attacker, and that it had accidentally discharged. In light of these facts, this Court upheld the denial of a self-defense instruction. The Court should make the same conclusion here.

In *Wadford v. State*, 385 So.2d 951, 955 (Miss.1980), also upholding the denial of a self-

defense instruction, the Mississippi Supreme Court explained, “The legal concept of self defense in a homicide case is based upon justification of a **purposeful** killing because it was necessary to kill in order to save the killer from imminent danger of suffering death or grave bodily harm at the hands of the person killed.” (emphasis added). Because “Wadford’s defense ... was that the homicide had been accidental,” the defendant was not entitled to a self-defense instruction. In this case, Brown’s defense was that the gun had fired accidentally, and that the shots might not have hit Cole at all. His argument should meet the same fate as the one presented by the appellant in *Wadford*.

Although it did not address the specific issue of the denial of a self-defense instruction, the following analysis is instructive here:

It is clear from the record that no evidence or testimony, not even Gilbert's, indicated that Gilbert shot Townsend in self-defense. Rather, Gilbert's own testimony was that Townsend caused the rifle to discharge when he hit it. Gilbert's own testimony demonstrated that he may not have even known if he shot Townsend. In no way did Gilbert testify that he consciously and intentionally shot Townsend in self-defense. If anything, he testified that he pointed the rifle at Townsend in self-defense and that Townsend hit the rifle and caused it to fire accidentally.

*Gilbert v. State*, 934 So.2d 330, 341 (Miss.App.2006).

Similarly, in this case, Brown denied that he intentionally shot Cole and indicated doubt as to whether the shots from his gun actually hit the victim. Because self-defense simply was not Brown’s “explanation for what happened,” these instructions were properly denied. *Oatis v. State*, 726 So.2d 1230, 1233 (Miss.App.1998), cited in *Osborne v. State*, 843 So.2d 99, 101 (Miss.App.2003). Likewise, no basis exists for disturbing the trial court’s refusal of these instructions on the ground of lack of evidentiary foundation. In light of the foregoing authorities, Brown’s second proposition should be denied.

**PROPOSITION THREE:**

**THE VERDICT IS BASED ON LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF AND IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE; THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING THE MOTION FOR J.N.O.V./NEW TRIAL**

Brown finally contends the evidence is legally insufficient to sustain the verdict and, alternatively, that the verdict is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. To prevail on the claim that he is entitled to a judgment of acquittal, she faces the formidable standard of review set out below:

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the standard of review is quite limited. *Clayton v. State*, 652 So.2d 720, 724 (Miss.1995). All of the evidence is to be considered in the light most consistent with the verdict. *Id.* The prosecution is given the benefit of "all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." *Id.* This Court will not reverse unless the evidence with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged is such that reasonable and fairminded jurors could only find the accused not guilty. *McClain v. State*, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss.1993).

*Brown v. State*, 796 So.2d 223, 225 (Miss.2001).

This rigorous standard applies to the claim that the defendant is entitled to a new trial:

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is well settled. "[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Dudley v. State*, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶ 8) (Miss.1998). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." *Griffin v. State*, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." *Dudley*, 719 So.2d at 182 . "This Court does not have the task of re-weighting the facts in each case to, in effect, go behind the jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they chose to believe was or was not the

most credible.” *Langston v. State*, 791 So.2d 273, 280 (¶ 14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

*Smith v. State*, 868 So.2d 1048, 1050-51 (Miss. App. 2004),

Furthermore,

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). **"It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief."** *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) *Ford v. State*, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss. App. 1999).

It has been “held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony.” *Kohlberg v. State*, 704 So.2d 1307, 1311 (Miss.1997). As this Court recently reiterated in *Hales v. State*, 933 So.2d 962, 968 (Miss.2006), criminal cases will not be reversed “where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts...” [citations omitted] Rather, “juries are impaneled for the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury. ” [citations omitted]

In support of his argument, Brown invokes *Weathersby v. State*, 165 Miss. 207, 209, 147 So.2d 481, 482 (1933), which held that “where the defendant or the defendant's witnesses are the only eyewitnesses to the homicide, their version, if reasonable, must be accepted as true, unless substantially contradicted in material particulars by a credible witness or witnesses for the state, or by the physical facts or by the facts of common knowledge.” The state counters first that

because Brown did not raise this issue below, he may not be heard to do so here. *Neese v. State*, 993 So.2d 837, 843 (Miss. App. 2008). “A motion for directed verdict and JNOV must be specific. [citation omitted] ... Without specificity, a trial court will not err by denying the motion.” *Davis v. State*, 891 So.2d 256, 258 (Miss.2004 (holding a *Weathersby*-based argument procedurally barred). “It is well established that ‘questions will not be decided upon appeal which were not presented to the trial court and that court given an opportunity to rule on them....’” *Davis*, 891 So.2d at 258, quoting *Fleming v. State*, 604 So.2d 280, 293 (Miss.1992). Brown did not raise *Weathersby* at trial, and his post-trial motions are not included in the record. Accordingly, this argument is procedurally barred.

Solely in the alternative, the state submits for the sake of argument that Brown’s testimony conflicted with the statement given to the authorities. In the latter, he admitted the he “shot at” the victim; at trial, he testified that the gun discharged accidentally. In his pretrial statement, Brown did not mention that his alleged attackers were wielding bottles, as he testified at trial. Nor did he mention in his statement that he had heard additional gunfire on the other side of the club. These contradictions alone are sufficient to take this case out of the realm of *Weathersby*. *Harris v. State*, 446 So.2d 585, 590 (Miss.1984). This is not one of those “rare case[s] that satisfies the requirements of the rule in *Weathersby*.” *Garth v. State*, 771 So.2d 984, 987 (Miss. App. 2000).

The state incorporates by reference its Statement of Substantive Facts in asserting that the proof is not such that rational jurors could have returned no verdict other than not guilty, or such that to allow it to stand would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. Contrary to Brown’s argument on appeal, the evidence and the reasonable inferences therefrom, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, support the conclusion that Brown fired the shots that actually killed the

victim. Brown admitted prior to trial that he had shot at the victim, and he testified at trial that his gun discharged accidentally during the confrontation with the victim. All of the casings had been fired from the same gun. The reasonable inference is that Brown in fact killed Cole, and no basis exists for disturbing the jury's determination that he did so.

The state respectfully submits the trial court did not err in overruling the motion for j.n.o.v./new trial. Brown's final proposition should be rejected.

**CONCLUSION**

The state respectfully submits that the arguments presented by Brown have no merit. Accordingly, the judgment entered below should be affirmed.